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ONE


Introduction


The life and times of Archibald Campbell, 8th Earl and only Marquess of Argyll, were marked by upheavals, convulsions and revolution. His childhood occurred in the wake of regal union in 1603, when James VI of Scotland succeeded to the English throne and instituted the Stuarts as a British dynasty. He attained adulthood during the authoritarian rule of Charles I, against which the Scots revolted, expressing their opposition through the National Covenant of 1638, which formally launched the Covenanting Movement. In the Kirk, Presbyterianism, that is rule through a hierarchy of courts, replaced the control by bishops which came to be known as Episcopalianism. In the State, the Covenanters accomplished a revolution that fundamentally limited monarchical powers by 1641. Over the next two years, the Covenanters exported their ideology, practices and aspirations to Ireland and England, most notably by the Solemn League and Covenant of 1643. Civil wars for all three kingdoms followed, with Oliver Cromwell coming to power first in England and Ireland, then in Scotland by military might. The Commonwealth, established in the wake of the regicide of Charles I in 1649, absorbed Scotland in 1651, before giving way three years later to the Protectorate which, in turn, was pushed aside for the Restoration of Charles II in 1660. Argyll was executed in the following year, as the foremost Scottish revolutionary and purported collaborator with Cromwell.


The future Marquess of Argyll was probably born in Inveraray Castle, the principal Argyllshire stronghold of the chiefs of ClanCampbell. But we do not know exactly when. He certainly entered the world after 1598 and no later than 1607. While portraiture can be used to support the former date (see Plate 9) it can also more convincingly suggest (see Chapter 2) that Archibald Campbell reached his majority in 1628 (see Plate 8), which affirms the later birth date. His mother, Anna Douglas, daughter of the 8th Earl of Morton, died on 3 May 1607, but not necessarily in childbirth. Her only surviving son was perhaps born around the outset of that year, which would have made him sixteen years of age when, as a squint-eyed, non-graduating student, he won the silver medal for archery at the University of St Andrews in 1623. We certainly know when and how he died. On placing his head on the block of the execution device incongruously known as ‘the Maiden’, Argyll was guillotined for treason on the High Street of Edinburgh on 27 May 1661.1 Conscious that his political career had been controversial and that his reputation had suffered from false aspersions that he supported the regicide and resisted the restoration of Charles II, he insisted from the scaffold that he was a Covenanter by conviction not convenience:




I entered not upon the work of reformation with any design of advance for myself, or prejudice to the King and his government.2





Comparative Significance


From his birth to his death Argyll was a complex character, cautious yet volatile, never far from intrigue and as prone to polarise as to conciliate. Clear guiding principles ran his life. First and foremost he was born to become the chief of ClanCampbell, the most ruthless and territorially acquisitive clan in the Gàidhealtachd (Scottish Gaeldom). Second, he became a committed and pious Presbyterian which, third, propelled him to the leadership of the radical mainstream of the Covenanting Movement. Fourth, as clan considerations prevented him completing his formal education through a continental grand tour, he lacked the cultural polish of his contemporaries among Scottish magnates. But he more than compensated by his theoretical and practical grasp of politics and statecraft that was grounded in the classical teachings of Aristotle and the Stoics with which he was first imbued at St Andrews3 – teaching that made him sceptical about, rather than deferential to, absolutism or authoritarian monarchy. Fifth, the political stage on which he chose to operate was British. He was not prepared to restrict himself to Scottish any more than to Highland dramas and crises.


Underestimating Argyll’s British significance has been a feature of his entries in both the original DNB and the new Oxford DNB. This British deficit was compounded by the apologetic stance in the only previous biography of substance on the Marquess, that by John Willcock in 1903.4 In defending the integrity, influence and intellect of Argyll, Willcock was responding to an ongoing historiographic tradition which has rarely assessed the Marquess on his political merits, preferring to concentrate on his perceived deficiencies rather than his proven prowess. Historians no less than contemporaries have too frequently judged Argyll adversely in comparison to his enemies, opponents and rivals (see Chapter 2). There have been relatively recent biographies of varied quality on James Hamilton, 3rd Marquess and 1st Duke of Hamilton, on James Graham, 5th Earl and 1st Marquess of Montrose, and on Randall MacDonnell, 2nd Earl and 1st Marquess of Antrim.5 Respectively they stand to Argyll as his foremost opponent, his inveterate enemy and his territorial rival. In contrast to the Marquess, all had continental experience as travellers, soldiers or diplomats. But they all lacked Argyll’s political nous, his political timing and his political craft.


Hamilton was Argyll’s principal Scottish opponent both within and without the Covenanting Movement. Where Hamilton oscillated between acting as a conservative Covenanter or as a pragmatic Royalist, Argyll remained committed to the radical mainstream of the Movement. For his part, Hamilton recognised the revolutionary potential of Argyll when he warned Charles I, in November 1638, that the then 8th Earl, who had still formally to declare himself a Covenanter, must be watched, ‘for it feares me he will proufe the dangerousest man in this state’;6 and so it proved for the cause of this ill-fated king and his Royalist cause, albeit another eight years were to elapse before Charles came to the summative judgement that Argyll was ‘very civil and cunning’.7 The muchacclaimed campaigning brilliance of Montrose has tended to be accompanied by the denigration of Argyll both as a commander and as a warrior. Notwithstanding the glorious reputation accorded his Royalist campaigns in the 1640s, Montrose attained no worthwhile political accomplishments. Within Gaeldom, Argyll’s reputation has certainly suffered from the adverse press generated principally by poets of ClanDonald in Scotland and Ireland, whose polemical stridency was in inverse proportion to their clan’s declining political influence. Since the fall of their Lordship of the Isles in the late fifteenth century, the ClanDonald had fragmented and become embroiled in feuds primarily to the advantage of the ClanCampbell. Attempts to unite this fragmented clan around Antrim at the outbreak of the civil wars were mere political posturing. Antrim’s brokering of an alliance between the Confederation of Irish Catholics and the Scottish Royalists certainly led to the stunning guerrilla warfare waged by his kinsman, Alasdair MacColla, in association with Montrose. Their campaign in 1644–45 exposed Argyll’s lack of valour and his deficient generalship. But the Marquess was the main political orchestrator who had the Covenanting forces outmanoeuvre and eventually crush MacColla and Montrose. Antrim was left a political bystander in the affairs of the three kingdoms.


While Argyll has been the subject of but one previous biography, there is a veritable growth industry on the life and times of both Charles I and Oliver Cromwell, his main British sparring partners.8 Charles I was an authoritarian king with absolutist aspirations. His reign was marked by political ineptitude, patent untrustworthiness and a wilful incapacity to accept counsel that favoured conciliation and compromise. Nevertheless, his dignified refusal to become entangled in a show trial, his majestic bearing on the scaffold and his uncompromising support for Episcopalianism made him a martyr for Stuart monarchy. A cult of kingly sacrifice, based on the twin pillars of justice and piety, was soon developed through Eikon Basilike, the purported meditations of Charles I as he awaited execution, and later through the apologetic writings of Anglican clergy. The cult of Charles the martyr spread to Scotland to become part of the Episcopalian tradition, a cult which glossed over his marked intransigence, his warmongering and his diplomatic isolation.9


Notwithstanding the regicide of 1649, Cromwell’s political standing has endured as a man of destiny, a strong ruler and a statesman of international repute. Despite a tendency towards glory-hunting, a penchant for bloody ruthlessness towards his enemies and an abiding conviction of his own rightness, Cromwell remains an English national hero in a belligerent line that stretches back from Edward I through Henry V and Elizabeth Tudor, and on to Winston Churchill and Margaret Thatcher. He is thus lauded as a soldier, politician and statesman who ‘towered above his age’.10 Argyll can be deemed second only to Cromwell as a British statesman of the mid-seventeenth century. Less vilified and less celebrated, Argyll exercised as pronounced a polarising influence in all three kingdoms. Cromwell deemed his exclusive brand of English patriotism to be divinely warranted. Argyll was no less devout but more inclusive in his patriotism as he pursued his unique, non-anglocentric calling as a Gaelic chief, Scottish magnate and British statesman. Cromwell had determined the political agenda of the three kingdoms for less than a decade prior to his death in 1658. From 1638 until he was beheaded twenty-three years later, Argyll personified the Scottish corrective to the Stuarts as an authoritarian British monarchy. Yet, Argyll has no accepted place in any Scottish pantheon of heroes. He remains an enigmatic figure, his reputation sullied by calumny, distortion and neglect rather than glorified or commemorated with respect and honour. His contribution to the British Revolution of the mid-seventeenth century continues to be underplayed. Nevertheless, without Argyll, the revolt against Charles I would not have retained its radical edge in England as it had in Scotland.


Paradoxical Identities


Charles I, Cromwell and Argyll have added political significance in that they personified different and rival perspectives on what constituted British identity in the seventeenth century. These perspectives should be viewed as normative in that they are prescriptive not just descriptive, being grounded in myth, providence, prophecy and the humanist scholarship of the Renaissance.


The Britannic perspective favoured by the early Stuarts since the Union of the Crowns in 1603 advocated full integration of England and Scotland, failing which James VI and I promoted common foreign, frontier and colonial policies. More controversially, Charles I sought administrative, social, economic and religious uniformity throughout the British Isles. However authoritarian this prescription, it had the merits of an inclusive British agenda centred on the royal court. Nevertheless, in England the Gothic perspective, whose most celebrated exponent was Cromwell, elevated parliamentary statute and common law over the privileges of governance reserved as the prerogative powers of the Stuart monarchy. While the Gothic agenda was propagated as the defence of civil and religious liberties, these liberties were exclusive to the English. Accordingly, any union with Scotland, as with Ireland, was to be based on subordination and absorption. The Scottish perspective – as indeed the Irish equivalent – was based on liberation theology. For the Irish, their prevailing Roman Catholicism was their confessional counter to notions of civility as imposed by the English and, simultaneously, their validation that Ireland was a free, not a dependent, kingdom within the Stuart’s British dominions. For the Scots, Calvinism as received at the Reformation of 1560–67 enhanced the rights of resistance vested in their commonwealth since the Wars of Independence in the late thirteenth and early fourteenth centuries. These rights in a religious context were advocated first by John Knox and George Buchanan in defiance of monarchy. Subsequently, they were reinforced in the later sixteenth century by the ideological resistance to monarchy that emanated within France from the Protestant Huguenots during the Wars of Religion, and from Dutch Calvinists who preferred republicanism to rule by the Spanish Habsburgs. At the same time, proponents of the Scottish perspective sought a virtuous commonwealth that should be open to wider federative arrangements within and beyond the British Isles. These arrangements were deemed necessary to counter universal monarchy as pursued by the Spanish and Austrian Habsburgs in association with the papacy.11


The notion of a virtuous commonwealth that was bound by divine warrant to resist ungodly, imperial and papal monarchy at home and abroad was firmed up by federal theology or covenanting. This theology, which had a particular appeal not only to Scottish Presbyterians but to evangelical Protestants from Transylvania to New England, emphasised the contractual relationship between God and man, rather than the stark Calvinist reliance on election by divine decree. Predestination and, thereby, man’s ultimate dependence on divine grace was not denied. The true believer proved his or her election by covenanting with God, not by exercising free will to choose his or her salvation. Divine grace moved man to covenant. But once man had so banded himself to God he was assured of election. At its most potent, in moving individuals and nations to demonstrate their faith through purposeful works as well as graceful living, the covenant could be interpreted as a divine band between God and the people of Scotland. Such a band carried political as well as religious imperatives. As evident from the promulgation of the National Covenant in 1638, the Scots constructed constitutional arrangements that were ‘no wayes repugnant’ to the will of God and that required binding limitations on the monarchy in both Kirk and State. As manifest by the Solemn League and Covenant in 1643, these imperatives were exportable.12


Argyll was not just a participant but an active player in these momentous British events of the mid-seventeenth century. The Marquess was the principal architect of the Scottish Moment, when the Covenanters dominated the British political agenda from 1638 to 1645.13 As a radical Covenanter, he consistently advocated a federative arrangement for Scotland and England as more just and equitable than either regal union or political incorporation. Such an arrangement can be viewed as an association or confederation of executive powers authorised by the Scottish Estates and the English Parliament that did not involve either the subordination or the merger of these separate constitutional assemblies. This visionary standpoint marked him out as the leading British confederate during the 1640s. He was also the principal broker for the patriotic accommodation, which attempted to restore Charles II as King of Great Britain and Ireland in 1650–51. However, there is a central paradox about his Scotto-British standpoint. A confederate could also be viewed by his contemporaries as a conspirator or collaborator; a perspective that undoubtedly bedevilled Argyll’s endeavours to reconfigure British politics. At the same time, Argyll’s political reputation has undoubtedly suffered from the association of confederacy with conspiracy in all three kingdoms during the 1640s.


The British paradox of Argyll as a confederate and a conspirator was forcibly articulated in 1648 by Clement Walker, a polemicist for the Presbyterian faction within the English Parliamentarians. He considered Argyll, notwithstanding his public image as a Covenanting stalwart and bulwark of Presbyterianism in Scotland, to be ‘joined in confederacy’ with the Independent faction among the Parliamentarians led by Oliver Cromwell. Having laid out the factional differences between the Presbyterians and Independents in England, Walker devoted a lengthy appendix to demonstrating that Argyll was ‘an Apostate Covenanter, whose ambition and avarice hath ruined the KING, Church and State, or three flourishing Kingdomes’. Argyll was the chief political promoter of the Solemn League and Covenant, which upheld Presbyterianism in all three kingdoms. Yet he subsequently aligned himself with the Independents as Protestant sectaries and schismatics who individually and collectively sought salvation outwith a national church. In the process, Argyll and his faction – in reality the radical mainstream of the Covenanting Movement – were deemed ‘the chiefe Malignants, Incendiaries and evill Instruments, who have been the Ruiners of these three flourishing Kingdomes and the Authors of the bloodshed in all of them’. According to Walker, the paradox central to Argyll’s political career was to be explained by his pursuit of public ends for private advantage. His political commitment to Covenanting masked his intent to make territorial acquisitions in Scotland and Ireland. His professed piety was likewise for purely personal advancement in ensuring that the Presbyterian ministers supported the harassment and ruin of his enemies. Writing prior to the regicide, Walker sought to demonstrate that Argyll was a more malevolent influence than Cromwell in the British Isles. How was this so?


First, in 1640–41, Argyll had conspired with his confederates to make Scotland a republic or free state along Dutch lines. Second, in 1642, he began his confederacy in England by showing Parliamentarians how to mobilise funds by taxes, voluntary contributions and forced loans to wage war against Charles I. Third, he was simultaneously despatching embassies to Cardinal Armand-Jean de Richelieu to bring France into his confederacy under the guise of revitalising the Franco-Scottish ‘Auld Alliance’. Fourth, the main point of his conspiracy was to cast off monarchy in Scotland, if necessary by provoking civil war in 1644–45. Fifth, finding English Presbyterians prepared to make peace with Charles I, he abandoned them for Cromwell. In the process, he was instrumental in having Charles I handed over to the Independents eight months after the king had sought refuge with the Covenanting Army in England in May 1646. Sixth, by 1648 he was encouraging Cromwell to move towards a republic in England. Accordingly, he obstructed the endeavours of James, Duke of Hamilton, ‘a Professor of the true Protestant Religion’ and leader of the conservative Covenanters, to facilitate the restoration of monarchical power through a Britannic Engagement. Seventh, after the Engagement came to grief militarily in England, Argyll solicited Cromwell’s assistance to effect an internal revolution that would not only entrench his radical regime in power, but also turn Scotland into a sectarian dependency, ‘a Province to the Kingdome of the Saints’ that Cromwell was determined to accomplish in England. Reissues of Walker’s appendix in the wake of the regicide of 1649, and again following the execution of the Marquess in 1661, helped ensure that Argyll’s reputation was also tainted with collaboration in the 1650s. Yet in that decade, his relationship with Oliver Cromwell was primarily marked by mutual distrust.14


Notwithstanding Walker’s strictures on confederacy, Argyll, as the foremost promoter of a federative Britain, was steeped in the virtuous Scottish tradition of a godly commonwealth resisting ungodly monarchy. By the same token, he died as a committed Covenanter convinced that he ranked with the godly rather than with the reprobate as the openly profane, or with those who paid only lip-service to religion. Accordingly, he used his speech on the scaffold neither to justify his political conduct nor to rebut calumnies or condemn his opponents. For he was assured of his own salvation:




I bless him that hath taken away the sting of my sufferings; I may say that my charter is seal’d this day; for the Lord hath said to me, Son, be of good cheer, thy sins are forgiven thee.15





Wider Dimensions


In death as in life, Argyll was driven by the helpful and the chastising hand of providence as God revealed his divine purposes to his people. Such divine revelation, which was rooted in Judaic-Christian tradition, cut across the confessional divide opened up by the Reformation throughout and beyond the British Isles. As a religious counter to classical auguries of fortune and fate, belief in providence affirmed God’s plan for the universe, whether applied generally to nations or specifically to individuals. God’s majesty, evident through His manifest conferral of blessings and punishments, motivated mankind regardless of social standing or economic resources to strive collectively for grace and seek individual assurance of salvation. In the Reformed tradition, the wholesale striving of a nation to live gracefully indicated their providential calling as a chosen people. At the same time, Protestant pulpits throughout the Stuart’s dominions carried the prophetic warning that national apostasy, just like individual backsliding, assured heavenly vengeance.16 Divine revelation did not stand apart from but interacted with clanship, nobility and statesmanship. This interaction was particularly evident in Argyll’s response to wider influences shaping Scottish and British politics – notably, the Thirty Years War, apocalyptic expectations and secular prophecy.


The Thirty Years war nominally dates from the Bohemian crisis in 1618. The overturning of the endeavours of Frederick, the Elector Palatine – who was married to Elizabeth, daughter of James VI and I – to secure election as King of Bohemia and prevent the Austrian Habsburg, Archduke Ferdinand, becoming Holy Roman Emperor, initiated a general European conflagration that was not concluded until the Peace of Westphalia in 1648. Arraigned against the particular interest of the Elector Palatine and his supporters among the German princes and their political estates were the Austrian and Spanish Habsburgs supported by the papacy. While this was certainly portrayed by contemporaries as the forces of Protestantism resisting the Counter-Reformation and Catholic absolutism, the Protestant alliance of Calvinists and Lutherans was uneasy and unstable despite support from the Dutch Republic or United Provinces and the monarchies of Great Britain, Denmark-Norway and Sweden. Confessional allegiance was further breached when Catholic France, under the direction of Cardinal Richelieu – the supreme exponent of politique who acted for reasons of state – brokered an alliance with the United Provinces and Sweden in 1635. This alliance not only prevented the attainment of Habsburg hegemony in Europe, but also took a benign stance towards the emergence of the Covenanting Movement in Scotland three years later.17


The release of Scottish forces serving with the Swedes and the Dutch gave a professional backbone and a cutting edge to the Covenanting forces that engaged with Charles I in the Bishops’ Wars of 1639–40. The key to their release was Alexander Leslie, a field-marshal in Swedish service who became the supreme commander of the Covenanting forces that were to intervene in Ireland and England in the course of the 1640s. General Leslie (later 1st Earl of Leven) had also served with Hamilton when the latter commanded the British expeditionary forces that fleetingly participated with the Swedes in the main continental theatre of the war in 1631–32. However, Hamilton was too dilatory in attempting to secure Leslie’s services, even though this military veteran had returned to Scotland on family business as the National Covenant was being subscribed in 1638. Unlike Hamilton, Argyll was not a veteran of the Thirty Years War. But he was able to draw on real and fictitious ties of kinship to secure Leslie’s service for the Covenanting Movement. Argyll exploited ties of fosterage which linked together the clan elite from childhood and built up lasting associations with Lowland families of nobles and gentry. Alexander Leslie, from Balgonie in Fife, was foster-brother to Sirs Colin, Robert and John Campbell, successive lairds of Glenorchy. All were close and trusted kinsman of Argyll, who had also sent his own four-year-old son Archibald, the future 9th Earl, to be fostered with Sir Colin Campbell from 1633 to 1639.18


The devastation and social dislocation brought about by the Thirty Years War, combined with the intensive religious rivalries of forces fighting the Anti-Christ, heightened a European sense that the end of days was imminent, from which Scotland was not immune. Letters home from the front reinforced notions of an impending apocalypse as defined through the prophetic revelations which concluded the New Testament. Eschatological expectations also stimulated reform projects driven by confessional confederation that would prepare for the millennium and the second coming of Christ.19 Prominent in these endeavours was an expatriate Scot, John Durie from Edinburgh. Having been educated in the United Provinces and France, Durie began his career as pastor to the British mercantile community at Elbing in Prussia in 1624. There he was drawn into the extensive, intellectual network of Samuel Hartlib, a merchant, pietist and educationalist with an encyclopaedic mind, who relocated to England from 1628. Inspired by the Hartlib circle, in which he became a major figure, Durie dedicated his life to an irenicist accommodation between the Lutheran, Calvinist and other Reformed traditions. Throughout the 1630s, he strove unflinchingly to gather support for confessional confederation among Protestants by chronically underfunded, peripatetic endeavours in Germany, Poland-Lithuania and Sweden. As his promotion of confessional confederation was also targeted against Habsburg imperialism, Durie and his backers held firm to the prospect that the exiled family of Elizabeth Stuart, the ‘Winter Queen’ of Bohemia, could be restored to the Palatinate from which they had been ousted at the outset of the Thirty Years’ War.20


Durie’s most supportive backing in Scotland came from a group of academics and intellectual clerics, known as the Aberdeen Doctors, who favoured episcopacy. However, his claims to speak for ‘the British Churches’ carried little weight with Scottish Presbyterians, who were militantly opposed to the hegemonic Anglican agenda then being promoted by Charles I and rigorously pursued by William Laud, as Archbishop of Canterbury, in all three Stuart kingdoms. Indeed, with the emergence of the Covenanting Movement, Scottish Presbyterians were intent not on irenicism but on a godly redefinition of the political agenda through permanent checks on prerogative rule in Kirk and State. In terms of apocalyptic expectation the Scots gave precedence to the conversion of the Jews who, unlike Roman Catholics and Muslims, were not viewed as irredeemable followers of the Anti-Christ.21 However, the Covenanters under the radical leadership of Argyll did seek to replace regal union with a federative union, based on confessional confederation not just with England, but also with the United Provinces and Sweden. The Solemn League and Covenant between the Scottish Covenanters and the English Parliamentarians in 1643 gave tangible expression of these endeavours. As Argyll made clear in a celebrated speech to the Grand Committee of both the Lords and the Commons in the English Parliament in June 1646, British Union based on confessional confederation was not only indispensible to prevent division between Covenanters and Parliamentarians but vital for a lasting peace with Charles I. Argyll, in the interest of godliness, also contemplated moving beyond confederation: ‘The work of Reformation in these Kingdomes, is so great a work, as no age nor history can parallel since Chirsts daies.’ Accordingly, he wished to merge Scotland and England into a British commonwealth ‘all under one King, one in Religion, yea one in Covenant’.22


The act of covenanting provided Argyll and his radical associates with the political will to effect British revolution. No less potent, though lacking public endorsement from Presbyterian ministers, was the popular appeal of secular prophecy as propagated through almanacs, tracts, engravings, chapbooks and oral tradition. Predictions were the essence of secular prophecy, which ranged from astrology through second sight, the discerning of omens and other portentous signs to horoscopes. In studying the heavens, a broad distinction can be maintained between general interpretations of current conditions from such portents as comets and eclipses, and specific interpretations of future private and public developments based on individual astral readings.23


Notwithstanding his eminence as a physicist and astronomer, Johannes Kepler, a pioneer of the laws of motion, was lauded more for his general prediction of the European conflagration that became the Thirty Years War, a prediction that coincided with the regal union of 1603, when James VI and I sought to bring specific predictions about British destiny into play for his dynastic advantage. James initially sponsored the reprinting in Edinburgh in 1604 of assertions by an anonymous English apologist that the miraculous and happy union between England and Scotland would prove expeditious and profitable to both nations, and stop unnecessary wars. This endeavour to convince the Scottish Estates to participate, without equivocation, in the creation of ‘the moste opulent, strong and entire Empire of the worlde’, capable of transatlantic confrontation with Spain and the papacy, was made redundant by the failure of the English Parliament to support political incorporation in 1607. Nonetheless, James remained determined to demonstrate that secular prophecy had run its course with his accession to the English throne as the peaceful fulfilment of British unification, not only predicted by wizards such as Merlin and Thomas the Rhymer, and by chroniclers such as Bede. British Union was also endorsed from French and Danish sources. This text, which was printed in 1617 both in Latin verse and Scots metre, gained notable British currency throughout the 1640s.24


But such secular prophecy, which was deliberately opaque and ambiguous, was recyclable, readily customised and easily adapted to the sweeping political and religious changes that characterised the British Isles in the mid-seventeenth century. For the prophecies favouring union and concerted action against the papal Anti-Christ could also be reinterpreted to uphold Covenanting claims against the absentee Stuart monarchy, to secure Scottish deliverance from dependence on England and to impose British unification from the north. A manuscript newsletter from Newcastle, written variously by a gentleman or alderman to a friend in London on 8 September 1640, when the north of England was occupied by the Covenanting Army, copies the insolent discourse of the common Scottish soldiers. Not only did they routinely disparage the Royalist war effort and, indeed, the martial prowess of the English nation but, in their cups, they justified their conquest as the fulfilment of prophecy. Particularly remarkable was their recitation of verses translated from Latin into Scots, attributed to Merlin and applied to the course of the Bishops’ Wars: ‘They beleeve it noe lesse then Gospell.’ These verses were in fact textual variants drawn from The Whole Prophecies printed in Edinburgh and dedicated to King James of Great Britain in 1617. Especial weighting was given to the lines asserting that England faced forcible flattening, sudden death and ruination, having been betrayed from within as well as besieged by the Scots. Irish plotting and Welsh menaces were compounded by French hostility and Dutch alienation, which foretold greater griefs to come.25


Prophesying underscored the commitment of the Covenanting Movement to secure recognition from the Crown and the English Parliament of the political independence of Scotland; recognition that was duly attained by the Treaty of London in August 1641. Conversely, prophesying from a Scottish perspective on reformation rather than conquest also facilitated the refashioning of the regal union into British confederation, the substance of the Solemn League and Covenant of 1643. Nonetheless, prophecy that foretold a return to peace in the British Isles after the cathartic impact of war on all three kingdoms instigated from the north could be utilised also from the Gothic perspective of Cromwell and the regicides. English triumph over internal foes as well as external enemies justified the occupation of Scotland after the forcible conquest of Ireland by 1651.26


Throughout his adult life, Argyll was mindful of secular prophecy, especially that from oral Gaelic tradition. On 14 March 1633, the then Lord Lorne made a contractual arrangement with Captain David Alexander, a skipper from Anstruther in Fife. The latter’s ship, the Unitie, was commissioned to seek an island rumoured to be beyond the Hebrides in the Atlantic Ocean, ‘which hes not heretofore beine discovered nor planted’. In promoting this venture, which was to commence no later than 20 April and conclude by 1 August, Lorne was inspired partly by the contemporaneous voyages of discovery to promote British colonising in the Americas, and partly by the enduring Gaelic tradition of Tir nan Og (Land of the Ever Young), the Gaelic equivalent to the Viking Valhalla. Lorne advanced £8,000 for wages, freight and victuals, with a promise of a further £4,000 on receipt of a ‘trew report’ of the location and topography of the island and whether it was inhabited on discovery. His total expenditure of £12,000 (£1,000 sterling) was not recouped even though Lorne had taken out the additional assurance of placing a kinsman, Captain William Campbell, as an adviser on the ship, with instructions to disembark at Canna or other convenient Hebridean island on the return voyage in order that he may report independently and speedily.27


It reputedly made no difference to Argyll whether he was the foremost earl or the most recent marquess in the Scottish peerage. But he supposedly welcomed his elevation in rank in 1641 because Highland seers had foretold that if the MacChailein Mor, the soubriquet of the chief of ClanCampbell, was ‘rede heired and squint eyed’, he would be the last Earl of Argyll. However, there was an associated prophecy: so long as MacChailein Mor continued faithful to his prince, so long should the Campbells flourish in grandeur, ‘but how sonne they tooke armes against there soueraine, then sould that familie be extinguished and come to noght’.28 This latter prophecy cannot be held to have made Argyll reluctant to wage war against Charles I in all three kingdoms during the 1640s. Yet Argyll, who was increasingly the subject of omens portending his bloody end, could not but be conscious of the recirculation of this prophetic theme during the 1650s. The Marquess was castigated for his acquisitive, ruthless and brutal conduct in the previous decade. His eventual execution was also foretold. Indeed, his forlorn endeavour to throw himself upon the mercy of Charles II after the Restoration can in part be attributed to his attempt to evade this prophecy.29 However, the prediction that he would be hanged was not carried out to the letter. How much satisfaction Argyll derived from the altering of his sentence to beheading remains an open question!
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TWO


Forging Reputations


One major problem confronts any political biography of Argyll. While much has been written about him, little appears to have been written by him; a rather ironic situation for a man eventually held to account for a few supportive letters to General George Monck (later Duke of Albemarle) as the commander of the Cromwellian forces in Scotland during the 1650s. This relative lack of correspondence can only be attributed in part to the vagaries affecting the survival of records since the seventeenth century. Argyll had a well-honed sense of political accountability and personal liability. He was acutely aware of the need to avoid self-incrimination as can be gleaned from one letter that has survived from July 1640, when Argyll was commander of the Covenanting forces suppressing Royalist resistance in the north-east of Scotland. In the process he deliberately confused public policy with family feuding. His order to his kinsman and military aide, Dougall Campbell, then heir to Inverawe, to forcibly remove livestock from estates owned by James Ogilvie, Lord Ogilvie, was the cover for further punitive reprisals to be inflicted upon the future 2nd Earl of Airlie’s house of Forther in the Braes of Angus.




And albeit ye should be the longer in following me [to Strathardale] yeit ye shall not faill to stay and demoleishe my Lord Ogilveis hous of Forther. Sie how ye can cast off the Irone greattis & windows & take doun the roof. And iff ye find it wilbe langsame ye shall fyire it weill that so it may be destroyed. But ye neid not to latt know that ye have directione from me to fyir it, onlie ye may say that ye have warrand to demoleishe it and that to make ye work short ye will fyr it.1





Fortunately, Argyll was a meticulous keeper of detailed financial accounts, as befitting a man who laid out vast sums of money in support of the Covenanting Movement. He also was not averse to securing a favourable political press for his speeches and actions as a British confederate. However, his Instructions to His Son, purportedly written up in prison while awaiting trial and execution, are not authentic statements of his political ideology, but anodyne aphorisms on public and private life attributed to, but not actually authored by, Argyll. Accordingly, the document talks in platitudes about monarchy and aristocratic duty rather than deal with Argyll’s commitment to a godly commonwealth, inspired by George Buchanan, Scotland’s leading civic humanist in the sixteenth century. Buchanan’s two major works – De Iure Regnis apud Scotus dialogus (1579) and Rerum Scoticarum Historia (1582) – upheld rights of resistance vested in the Scottish commonwealth and advocated elective rather than hereditary kingship, much to the annoyance of his former pupil James VI and I and all subsequent members of the Stuart dynasty. These works were deemed in the Restoration era, particularly by those who recanted their engagement with the Covenanting Movement, as incendiary and the chief inspiration for revolution under the radical leadership of Argyll.2


As a political operator, Argyll relied less on correspondence and written instructions than on the placement of reliable agents in all four of the Scottish Estates. Thus, his main collaborator in the estate of the nobility was his kinsman, John Campbell, 1st Earl of Loudoun, who, as Chancellor of Scotland, was the highest ranking Covenanter in public office. Argyll maintained his guiding influence on the younger nobility through William Ker, 3rd Earl of Lothian, who had secured his title through marriage to Argyll’s niece, Anne. His closest political adviser as well as his confederate from the estate of the gentry was the hyper-active lawyer, Sir Archibald Johnston of Wariston, a leading ideologue and a joint author of the National Covenant for Scotland in 1638 and the Solemn League and Covenant for Britain in 1643. In the estate of the burgesses, Argyll relied on his former tutor, Robert Barclay, perennial provost of Irvine in Ayrshire. Although he remained close to the principal ideologues among the Presbyterian ministry – notably Alexander Henderson, Samuel Rutherford and Robert Douglas – his most dependable contact in the estate of the clergy was Robert Baillie, minister of Kilwinning in Ayrshire and later Principal of Glasgow University. While Argyll shuttled between Scotland and England and made occasional forays to Ireland during the 1640s, his main power base remained in Edinburgh or in the councils of the Covenanting Army. However, his four agents – Loudon, Wariston, Barclay and Baillie – were prominent as resident Scottish commissioners in England for much of that decade, serving as indispensible links between Argyll and the English Parliamentarians. Simultaneously, Lothian supported Argyll in the field and in the corridors of power, not only as a military commander all three kingdoms, but as a diplomat and intelligence gatherer in continental Europe.



Covenanting Martyr?


Baillie, in particular, was to provide the most sympathetic account of Argyll, ‘a notable instrument’ as a wise political operator and as a committed Covenanter. Argyll was the consummate political manager of the affairs of the Kirk as well as the State. He was notably resistant to clerical intrusions in parliamentary proceedings in particular and civil affairs in general. While he sought support from the pulpit, he did not countenance theocracy. Ultimately, political power rested in the parliaments of nobles, gentry and burgesses that constituted the Scottish Estates. The rule of the clergy in the Presbyterian hierarchy of courts – from kirk sessions in the parishes to presbyteries and synods in the districts and regions, and on to the national general assemblies – was moderated by the presence of members of the lay estates as elders. Baillie did recognise that Argyll’s ‘irreconcilable discords’ with Hamilton on the direction of the Covenanting Movement had threatened to tear Britain asunder in the 1640s. However, he also defended Argyll against contemporaneous charges of pusillanimous behaviour and outright cowardice when confronted by Montrose in battle and by other opponents offering duels during the 1640s. Argyll’s military conduct was deemed politically pragmatic, and he was reputedly averse to duelling because it was ungodly. Baillie parted political company with Argyll in the early 1650s when the Marquess moved his support from the more accommodating Resolutioners to the uncompromising Protestors in the struggle for the soul of Presbyterianism during the Cromwellian occupation of Scotland. This shift, along with his failure to support the patriotic rising initiated by William Cunningham, 9th Earl of Glencairn in 1653–54, lost him the high regard in which he was held in all three kingdoms and reputedly earned him ‘the people’s great hatred’ in Scotland. Yet, Baillie never lost sight of Argyll’s enormous financial contribution to the Covenanting Movement, as he had accumulated extensive debt and exhausted his personal fortune in sustaining the cause in all three kingdoms. For Baillie, Argyll was unquestionably ‘the greatest subject’ of Charles II at the Restoration, and ‘was the best and most excellent man our State of a long tyme had enjoyed’. His dignified conduct during his trial and execution redeemed his public standing. His death ‘was much regrated by many, and by none insulted over’.3


The first among Baillie’s contemporary political commentators to question the motives and probity of Argyll was James Gordon, parson of Rothiemay in Aberdeenshire, a lukewarm Covenanter more committed to geography and cartography. Never averse to the use of historical hindsight in revising his account of the emergence of the Covenanting Movement between 1637 and 1641, Gordon claimed that Argyll was primarily motivated to oppose Charles I on account of jealousy, particularly his aversion to the influence exercised at the royal court by Hamilton. Argyll, in turn, confirmed well founded concerns about his acquisitiveness at court by using his Covenanting leadership primarily to further his territorial ambitions as chief of ClanCampbell at the expense of his Royalist opponents. However, the parson of Rothiemay admitted that Argyll was universally perceived as the major potestas who gave ‘being, lyfe and motione’ to the firm establishment of the Covenanting Movement in power in Scotland by 1641.4 A noted patron of the parson’s scientific endeavours was Sir John Scott of Scotstarvit, well versed in the acquisitive opportunities of office holding and an occasional dabbler in colonial ventures. Notwithstanding his willingness to disparage the opportunism, mendacity and corruption of Scottish politicians holding public office between 1550 and 1650, Scotstarvit was conspicuously silent in not traducing the commitment and honesty of the Marquess. He merely noted with regret that the deep-seated hatred between the followers of Argyll and those of Hamilton within Scotland ‘hath been a prey and a conquest to the English nation’.5


Argyll’s reputation as a ‘pillar of the Covenant’ was first qualified then traduced by John Spalding, an Aberdeen lawyer more noted for his survival instincts than his political commitment. Prior to the outbreak of civil war in Scotland in 1644, Spalding deemed Argyll a forceful leader but crafty operator who was prepared to dispense with the advice and consent of nobles and other leading statesmen that did not accord with his interpretation of public service. His willingness to carry out cruel and inhumane acts led him to behave not just oppressively, but tyrannically, towards his Royalist opponents, particularly in the north-east. But he remained reluctant to engage them in the field, preferring to distress and wreck their estates for his own private advantage.6 Whereas Spalding was a trimmer who revised his manuscript as Scotland moved from Covenanting revolution to monarchical restoration, Sir James Balfour of Denmylne, Lord Lyon King at Arms to both Charles I and Charles II, was a more dispassionate commentator who preferred to report rather than editorialise Argyll’s prominence within the Covenanting Movement. Accordingly, Argyll was complimented for his short and pithy harangues to the Scottish Estates, for being a stickler for correct procedures in Kirk and State, for his exercise of ‘exact discipline’ in terrifying those who stood against the National Covenant, and for his occasional acts of clemency. The Lord Lyon did not demur when Argyll was commended by the Scottish Estates ‘for acquitting himself lyke a good and faithful patriot’ in promoting British confederation through the Solemn League and Covenant. He noted Argyll’s frequent and unrequited pleas to the Scottish Estates to be reimbursed for his extensive expenditure on behalf of the Covenanting cause. Only once did he record the Marquess being upbraided for giving vent to his frustrations, that those who accused him of meddling with public funds to his own advantage at the conclusion of the civil war in Scotland were ‘basse calumniators’. The Lord Lyon did become more markedly hostile to Argyll in 1649 in claiming that the Marquess, Loudoun and Wariston were but minions of the Kirk. He also recalled the less than honourable conduct of the Marquess in avoiding a duel in 1648, which also entailed the recycling of student gossip that Argyll was infamous for his daily oppressions. The Lord Lyon moved against Argyll not for any purported association with the regicide but on account of his association with the radical regime which came to power in the wake of the Britannic Engagement of 1648, a regime intent on social as well as political revolution. However, once Argyll distanced himself from the financial ambitions of the clergy and became the leading proponent of the patriotic accommodation to restore Charles II as King of Great Britain and Ireland, the Lord Lyon reverted to his preferred role of commentator rather than critic. The Marquess was particularly commended for his endeavours to negotiate purposefully ‘to stop the shedding of more Christian blood’ as English troops loyal to Oliver Cromwell occupied Scotland.7


A more succinct, but rounded appreciation of Argyll’s character and political merits was provided by the soldier and scholar Patrick Gordon of Ruthven. A noted protagonist of Argyll during the 1640s, Ruthven was understandably less effusive than Principal Baillie. Nonetheless, he manifestly had an intimate understanding and a no less balanced perspective on the Marquess, whose ‘many good and laudable partes’ were subverted by the ‘iniquitie of the tyme’. Argyll was essentially led astray from his cautious, wary and thrifty disposition by personal ambition for ‘supreame and absolut rule’. As the most eminent and greatest of the Covenanting revolutionaries, Argyll was palpably susceptible to Machiavellian politics which, by his practices in power, ‘he seemed perfectly to have studied’. Ruthven contrasted Argyll’s private and public personas. One the one hand, he was ‘of homely carriage, gentle, myld, and effable, gratious and courteous to speak too’. He was also generous and understanding, yet naturally apprehensive and austere. On the other hand, though tainted ‘with a loftie and unsatiable ambition’, Argyll ‘proued the deepest statesman, the most craftie, subtill, and over-reacheing politician, that this age could produce’.8


The Edinburgh lawyer and diarist John Nicoll commented in 1660 that Argyll had been ‘a prince and chief commander in the land’ for the past twenty-three years, but faced timely prosecution at the Restoration for ‘his many horrible’ acts over this period. His indictment for high treason demonstrated how God cast down the mighty.9 A more charitable Presbyterian perspective was provided by Alexander Brodie of Brodie. Closely tied to Argyll in the 1650s not so much by ties of kinship or political clientage as by Christian fellowship, Brodie was not averse to expressing his misgivings about the deep resentments harboured by the Marquess and the ‘keeping in his mind injuries, and offences and prejudices’. Nonetheless, he felt a profound sense of loss following Argyll’s execution in 1661;10 a loss shared by the Covenanting remnant that refused to conform to Episcopalianism at the Restoration. Thus, for James Kirkton, the Marquess was ‘to die a sacrifice to royal jealousy and revenge’. Argyll had adhered to the radical fundamentals of Covenanting when they no longer constituted the political mainstream in the 1650s. He had kept his authority while most of the former leadership of the Movement was marginalised during the Cromwellian occupation. Notwithstanding a great deal of envy, he remained ‘very wise and politick’ although, as Kirkton affirmed, ‘he was by many reckoned either subtile or false!’ As the Covenanting cause shifted from a movement of power to that of protest in the Restoration era, Argyll came to be viewed by preachers in outlawed conventicles in hill and field as a godly patriot sacrificed on the altar of absolute monarchy.11


As the perspectives of Argyll from Baillie to Kirkton were not published until the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, the propaganda emanating from the later Covenanting Movement that made him a martyr for ‘his zeal and activity for the work of God’ largely went unchallenged within Presbyterian circles. Writing in 1665 from exile in Holland, John Brown, as ‘a well wisher to the good old cause’, affirmed that Argyll had been an enemy to monarchy for the twenty-three years from the signing of the National Covenant in 1638 to his trial and execution in 1661, ‘when a great prince falleth’. Accordingly, he had been ‘an active friend for the interests of Christ’. As ‘an ornament’ to Scotland, the charges against him were groundless in law, whether divine or civil. Far from acting treasonably in his dealings with the Cromwellian regime, he was doing what he thought best for a country that had been conquered and subdued in order to ‘prevent its utter ruin and destruction’.12 The imprimatur of martyrdom was duly affirmed by Robert Wodrow, minister of Eastwood in Renfrewshire, the seemingly indefatigable chronicler of the sufferings endured by the later Covenanting Movement. Thus Argyll was deemed ‘a person of extraordinary Piety, remarkable Wisdom & Prudence, great Gravity and Authority and singular Usefulness’. His irregular trial and execution had vindicated him from the reproaches of his enemies:




He was the great Promoter and Support of the covenanted work of Reformation during his life, and steadfast in witnessing to it at his Death.13





However, the godly patriot of Covenanting tradition ran up against an ongoing Royalist polemic that tarnished Argyll with insurrection, civil war and usurpation. Vehement, intemperate and highly partisan imprints, in Latin, French and English, carried the greater national and international weighting that prevailed until the mid-eighteenth century.


Royalist Villain


The first, well published Royalist denigrator of Argyll was George Wishart, who served as chaplain and secretary to Montrose, with whom he went into continental exile in 1646. Wishart eventually returned to Scotland to become Bishop of Edinburgh after the Restoration. Wishart had been removed from his ministry in St Andrews by the Covenanting Movement in 1638. Having moved to Newcastle, he was subsequently imprisoned by the Covenanters there and in Edinburgh from October 1644. He was only released from prison following Montrose’s victory at Kilsyth in August 1645. Accordingly, he did not witness the campaigns of Montrose and MacColla in the Highlands and the north-east of Scotland. His association with Montrose was marked by defeat at Philiphaugh in September 1645, then exile twelve months later, followed by disappointment and despair when Montrose’s abortive return to Scotland led to his capture and execution in 1650. Wishart did not come back for Montrose’s last campaign. His first commentary on the civil wars, issued in Latin, probably from The Hague in late 1647, covered Montrose’s military activities from 1644 to 1646. Given that he was only an eye-witness to defeat, his account was essentially a manifesto for the Royalist’s cause in Scotland and, above all, a personal vindication for Montrose. Wishart wrote with the full compliance and co-operation of his hero. In the process Argyll was vilified. This first commentary was republished in Paris and Amsterdam over the next two years. Unauthorised freelance translations in English seem to have circulated in London from 1649. Wishart around 1652 composed a supplementary Latin account of Montrose’s fruitless diplomatic negotiations and of events in Scotland from 1647 to 1650, which was not translated into English until 1720. Wishart in exile had no first-hand experience of how Scottish affairs were then conducted. Yet his works, which were circulated extensively in print and manuscript before the Restoration, became the accepted texts for dismissing Argyll as a dangerous fanatic intent on personal aggrandisement, and not a martyr to any motive other than selfishness.


For Wishart, the Marquess of Argyll, a craven man of a ‘crafty but cowardly disposition’ who preferred flight to fight, had no redeeming features. As enemies to the Royalists, the gentry of the ClanCampbell ‘were stout and gallant men, well worthy of a better chief and a juster cause’, given the willingness of Argyll to abandon them to their slaughter. Notwithstanding their criticisms that Argyll’s leadership had failed, ‘through want of care or courage’, the house of Hamilton and their associates had colluded with his designs to subvert the monarchy in Scotland. Argyll and his Argathelians constituted a seditious confederacy intent on tyranny, which Montrose alone stood against. By 1648, Argyll had entered ‘an accursed compact’ with Cromwell to root out monarchy throughout Britain. Wishart took little consolation from the ‘characteristic duplicity’ of Charles II, who ruined both Montrose and Argyll, having sacrificed the former through an abortive expedition deprived of foreign assistance in 1650, and having the latter brought to trial and executed eleven years later.14


The Royalist backlash was furthered in 1658, by Sir William Sandersone. As a courtier, he was appalled that the Covenanters had made diplomatic overtures to foreign powers from 1639. He also resented and distrusted Covenanting intervention in Ireland from 1642, and especially in England from 1644. The intent was clearly to export revolution:




For Subjects to make foreign Confederacies without their Soveraignes assent, to invade the Territories of their undoubted King, to go about by force to change the Laws and Religion established, is a grosse Treason without all contradiction.





He drew heavily on Wishart for his appraisal of Argyll’s conduct up to and during the Scottish civil war as oppressive, treacherous, cruel, tyrannical, corrupt and cowardly; conduct which made him hated by his own Highlanders. The Marquess was further indicted for his confederacy with Cromwell and the Independents, which paved the way for the regicide.15


By the time of Argyll’s execution in 1661, the debate on his character and conduct had been given a further twist by a Scottish émigré, Robert Monteith of Salmonet, whose historical writings in French were not translated into English until 1735. Monteith certainly had first-hand knowledge of the troubles of Great Britain from the Scottish coronation of Charles I in 1633 to the patriotic accommodation of Covenanters and Royalists in favour of Charles II in 1650. He duly shifted the focus away from Montrose towards Hamilton as the main victim of Argyll’s political machinations. Argyll’s defeat by the manifestly more valiant Montrose in 1645 diminished his credit among his own followers, but this was attributed as much to ineptitude as to cowardice. His defeat was no more than a temporary setback. After the failure of the Britannic Engagement, Argyll made no effort to save Hamilton as the leader of that abortive Scottish venture from a judiciously dubious execution. In March 1649, the regicides had determined that Hamilton should stand trial under his English title, as 2nd Earl of Cambridge. Argyll purportedly compounded this self-serving act – he had ‘no mind to have a competitor in Scotland’ – by stalling Covenanting commitment to the patriotic accommodation in order to give Cromwell time to ravage Ireland and secure the Commonwealth in England.16


The Royalist perspective was given renewed impetus by the memoirs of Henry Guthry. Although not published in his lifetime, a manuscript copy was certainly circulating in the 1660s after Guthry, a former Presbyterian minister who had signed the Covenants, became Bishop of Dunkeld. Guthry, who was intent on laying to rest his Covenanting past, wrote to eulogise Montrose. Argyll, though recognised as the foremost Covenanter, was castigated as a scheming, miserly and vindictive opportunist who was usually first in flight when faced by mortal combat. Albeit Argyll was deemed to have exercised political mastery over Hamilton until 1648, the Britannic Engagement was undermined by Argyll’s covert dealings with Oliver Cromwell. Without a shred of evidence beyond gossip and hearsay, Guthry claimed that Cromwell had taken Argyll and other leading Covenanters into his confidence about his future designs for Charles I, receiving in turn their assent to the regicide.17


A switch in focus away from Montrose towards the rehabilitation of the house of Hamilton was effected by Gilbert Burnet. This Scottish exile’s memoirs of James, the 1st Duke and his brother William, initially as Earl of Lanark then as 2nd Duke, were first published in 1677. The future Bishop of Salisbury was no friend of Presbyterianism, although his maternal uncle was Johnston of Wariston, the principal political agent and confidant of Argyll. Burnet recorded the growing estrangement and then outright enmity between Argyll and the Hamilton brothers from 1641, on account of the Marquess being ‘so backward in all motions for the king’s service’. The main purpose of these memoirs was to exonerate the Hamilton brothers from the failure of the Britannic Engagement, which they engineered with considerable political cunning, using their conservative contacts and clients to outmanoeuvre Argyll and his radical associates. But the miscarriage of the hastily executed and hapless Engagement could not solely be attributed to the internal opposition mounted by Argyll. Nevertheless, Burnet excused their abortive expedition on the grounds that the Covenanting troops under their command were raw and undisciplined, inadequately equipped and constantly harassed from their entry into England until their defeat at Preston in September 1648. Hamilton was only blamed for too readily accepting errant advice from more senior officers. Burnet’s rather restrained criticism of Argyll was thrown over with the posthumous publication of his own voluminous memoirs from 1724. In his description of Argyll, commendation soon gave way to condemnation:




a more solemn sort of a man, grave and sober; free of all scandalous vices, of an invincible calmness of temper and a pretender to a degree of piety: but he was a deep dissembler, and great oppressor in all his private dealings, and he was noted for a defect in his courage on all occasions where danger met him. This had one of its usual effects on him, for he was cruel in cold blood: he was much set on raising his own family to be a sort of king in the highlands.18





In response to Burnet, William Dugdale, who was primarily concerned with drawing an analogy between the civil wars of the mid-seventeenth century and the French Wars of Religion in the later sixteenth century, presented a more prevaricating picture of Hamilton in 1681. The Duke had purportedly sought to stave off his trial and execution by offering a ransom of £100,000 sterling for his life and intimating to the regicides that he would join with Argyll in Scotland to serve their interests. Argyll’s refusal to collaborate, ‘resolving that none should share with him in so Glorious a Work’, expedited Hamilton’s trial and execution in 1649. Dugdale was less given to irony and more to outrage when outlining the Covenanting aims to secure a negotiated peace in tripartite negotiations with Charles I and the English Parliamentarians at Uxbridge in 1644–45. For the Covenanters, under the leadership of Argyll, were reportedly intent on Scottish imperialism by claiming ‘the Supreme Command of Ireland to be put into their Hands: As also to have a share in the Government of England’.19


A further hostile attack on the Covenanters was made by John Neilson, primarily because of their association with the English Parliamentarians during the civil wars. Hamilton was again castigated for prevarication and for being duped by the Covenanting leadership. This rather oblique criticism of Argyll was sharpened up when Neilson attacked the Covenanters for their ‘Injustice and Impiety’ and, above all, for their preference ‘to petition with the Sword in their hands’.20 Their British aspirations were further disparaged by the belated publication in 1705 of the selective reminiscences of Sir Edwald Walker, who had been Secretary of War to Charles I and Clerk of the Council to Charles II. Walker focused his criticisms of Argyll on his involvement with the patriotic accommodation. During 1650, the Marquess attempted to obstruct the participation of Royalists, restrict their importation of arms from abroad and sabotage their attempts to mobilise support from sympathetic Ulster Scots. Argyll and his inner radical circle were set on retaining ‘the sole Administration of Affairs’. They were less intent on restoring Charles II than on pursuing ‘their work of Reformation by the most severe and rigid Rule both in Church and State’ which, if accomplished, would have reduced the Royalist party in all the king’s dominions to ‘a far more miserable Condition both for their Consciences and Estates’ than under Cromwell.21


The most weighty, if not the definitive, Royalist contribution was actually made in the three years prior to Walker’s reminiscences, with the long delayed publication of The History of the Rebellion by Edward Hyde, who had set aside his initial sympathies with the English Parliamentarians to become a staunch adviser of Charles I from 1642. Although his moderating influence fell out of favour with Charles I as the civil war was lost, Hyde became a close adviser of the Prince of Wales, the future Charles II, from 1646 and remained so throughout enforced exile. At the Restoration he was ennobled as 1st Earl of Clarendon and reinstated to prominence and for a time to political pre-eminence in the royal counsels as Lord Chancellor of England. The publication of his work also served a contemporary polemic purpose. For in 1703–04, radical opponents of political incorporation with England in the Scottish Estates had attempted to impose fundamental limitations on monarchy inspired by the revolutionary attainments of the Covenanting Movement under the direction of Argyll in 1640–41. These attempted limitations had outraged Clarendon’s grand-daughter, Queen Anne.22 His momentous work was a stark warning against radical constitutional upheavals.


Clarendon felt obliged to severely censure the actions of many who had not the least thought of disloyalty or infidelity. But he directed his particular ire at those who, ‘with the most deliberate impiety, prosecuted their design to ruin and destroy the crown’. He certainly did not spare the Marquess of Argyll. Initially, Clarendon made much of the prophetic warning given at Court to Charles I by Archibald Campbell, 7th Earl of Argyll on the emergence of the Covenanting Movement in Scotland. The 7th Earl claimed that his estranged son, then Lord Lorne, ‘is a man of craft, subtilty and falsehood, and can love no man; and if ever he finds it in his power to do you mischief, he will be sure to do it’. Clarendon readily came to realise over the next two decades that without mentioning the Marquess of Argyll ‘there can hardly be any mention of Scotland’. With respect to Argyll’s principal Scottish rivals, Clarendon considered Montrose was all but consumed by jealousy and detestation of Argyll who, notwithstanding his consistent tyranny towards his enemies, ‘wanted nothing but honesty and courage to be a very extraordinary man’. Hamilton lacked the necessary ruthlessness to marginalise the Marquess in the Covenanting leadership. In shaping the British aspirations of the Covenanting Movement, Clarendon considered Argyll to be ‘purely Presbyterian’ in matters of religion, but in relation to issues of state and the conduct of the civil wars, ‘perfectly Independent’. Argyll’s alleged partiality towards Cromwell and his associates made him a willing subverter of the Britannic Engagement and no more than a lukewarm promoter of the patriotic accommodation. Clarendon was especially unforgiving of Argyll’s dissembling conduct towards Charles II, although he was instrumental in having the Prince of Wales crowned as King of Great Britain and Ireland at Scone in Perthshire at the outset of 1651. Castigated as the creature of Cromwell, Argyll’s desire to retain power in Scotland had to be tempered by the groundswell of support in favour of the monarchy. Clarendon, however, was unable to prove directly or circumstantially that Argyll actively colluded with Cromwell either in the regicide or, when his ‘empire seemed not be so absolute’ during the 1650s, to prevent the restoration of Charles II in all three kingdoms. But he did admit that Charles II in 1660 bore considerable malice towards Presbyterianism and to the house of Argyll from his brief sojourn in Scotland during the patriotic accommodation.23


Although Clarendon glossed over Argyll’s trial and execution, and declaimed the Marquess as ‘a man universally odious to the whole nation’, he did offer a judicious summation of his political influence within and beyond Scotland:




Without doubt he was a person of extraordinary cunning, well bred; and though, by the ill-placing of his eyes, he did not appear with any great advantage at first sight, yet he reconciled even those who had aversion to him very strangely by a little conversation . . . His wit was pregnant and his humour gay and pleasant, except when he liked not the company or the argument . . . When the other faction prevailed, in which there were likewise crafty managers, and that his counsels were commonly rejected, he carried himself so, that they who hated him most were willing to compound with him.24





With the work of Clarendon bolstering the writings of Wishart and Burnet, the Scottish antiquarian George Craufurd affirmed confidently in 1726 that Argyll was not just a violent and assertive Covenanter. He was also ‘a grand villain’ who was ‘most Justly Execute’ as the Covenanting ringleader in the murder of Charles I and many other political opponents.25


Blurring the Lens


That the reputation of the Marquess of Argyll was predominantly negative can also be attributed to the oral circulation of poetry in Gaelic and Scots, and even to the visual arts in terms of portraiture. The vilification of the house of Argyll had long been part of Gaelic tradition, particularly by classical bards and vernacular poets associated with the diverse branches of the MacDonalds and the Macleans, the main victims of the territorial aggrandisement of the ClanCampbell since the fifteenth century.26 Thus, Iain Lom alias John MacDonald from Keppoch rejoiced in the impending execution of the Marquess of Argyll:




’N am rùsgadh a choileir


Théid an ceann deth o cholainn –


Glòir agus moladh do’n Ardrigh –


Le maighean sgorshuileach smachdail


Dh’fhàgas giallan gum mheartainn,


Dhuineas fiaras a ‘Mharcuis mhì-chàirdeail.







[When his collar is torn off, his head will be severed from his body – all glory and praise to the king on high – by a sharp-eyed austere Maiden that leaves jaws powerless, and will close forever the malevolent Marquess’ squint].27





Although Gaelic poetry had limited circulation outwith the Highlands and Islands, the Scots language was no less unrelenting in tarnishing reputations. There was, however, a greater degree of ambivalence towards Argyll in Scots than in Gaelic poetry.


There are several versions of the ballad ‘The Bonnie House of Airlie’, which deals with Argyll’s destruction in July 1640 of the seat of James Ogilvie, 1st Earl of Airlie, in his absence. It was in the same campaign that Argyll gave instructions to Campbell of Inverawe to burn the house of Airlie’s son and heir, James, Lord Ogilvie in Forther on the Braes of Angus (see above). As these ballads were not collected for publication until the nineteenth century, it is difficult to determine the exact date of their composition. All ballads deem Argyll to be taking revenge on Airlie, usually within the context of Covenanting reprisals against the Royalist house of Airlie, but also in terms of a territorial feud. Argyll had lands in the shire of Angus in close proximity to those of Airlie. The ballad clearly propagates the fairly accurate view that Argyll turned public policy to private advantage, and is very much in keeping with contemporary claims that Argyll was the ‘first who raised fyre in Scotland’ in the conflicts between Covenanters and Royalist.28


However, there is less common ground in describing further personal motives for the reprisals. Argyll is stated in all versions to have made improper sexual advances to the lady of the house. It is even hinted in the version most hostile to Argyll that he had been her former suitor and would not have sacked the castle if she had accepted his hand in marriage. Lady Ogilvie is named as Margaret in another version. However, neither Airlie nor his son Lord Ogilvie were married to a Margaret, which is a name held in common by the Earl’s aunt, sister and daughter. There is no extant record that Argyll was ever a suitor for any Margaret from the house of Airlie. More pertinently, the fullest and probably original version describes Argyll as both ‘great’ and ‘fause’ (false), but a later version, almost certainly adapted after his execution, frequently just cites him as ‘gley’d’, that is squint-eyed.29 Yet not all Scots poetry disparaged Argyll. A ballad on the surrender of Dumbarton Castle in August 1639 eulogises him for not only sparing the Royalist garrison but also granting honourable terms for their unmolested departure. Verses on the death of Marquess in 1661 elegise ‘Argyll the great’ as a virtuous Covenanting martyr. Notwithstanding his ‘weavering temper’, he was a stalwart of the Protestant Reformation, a judicious shaper of public policy and the veritable ‘pillar of the state’, yet the greatest subject in Scotland to challenge monarchy.30


The ambivalence of poetry is replicated in the portraiture. Of the ten known portraits of Archibald Campbell, five relating to his time as Marquess of Argyll can be attributed to the school of David Scougall.31 But only one, the most iconic and enduringly influential (see Plate 1), painted probably in the mid-1650s, has definitively been ascribed to that artist from around 1720. All the portraits of the Scougall school are of the bust and have the Marquess looking penetratingly at the viewer with dark blue eyes tinged with grey. All portray a similar style of dress. He wears a black, enclosed head band from which locks of his auburn hair fall down onto a broad white square collar tied by tassels to a black tunic. The prominent, aquiline nose associated with leading members of the house of Argyll is clearly defined. Curled lips can be interpreted as a visual pun on the Campbell name, which is derived in Scottish Gaelic from cam beul, literally twisted mouth. But this feature more than hints at the arrogance of power and is, in turn, enhanced by a pencil-thin moustache over the upper lip and a short, triangulated goatee beard under the lower lip. Scougall and his school have uniformly painted the Marquess with a three-quarter length face from the right, which highlights rather than disguises a pronounced squint in his left eye. In sum, the impression is given of an authoritarian, rather severe and humourless statesman whose confessional commitment is undoubtedly Presbyterian. The portraiture clearly demonstrates why the soubriquet Gilleasbuig Gruamach (Archibald the Grim) was passed on to the Marquess from his father the 7th Earl of Argyll. But there is also grudging respect for a politician of stature who clearly has the accumulated experience of a man of power. It is not portraiture of a man worn down by the cares of office, unduly apprehensive about his future or prematurely aged by his financial burdens. These paintings stand in striking contrast to the contemporaneous portrayal of Argyll as ‘the old Marquess’ by the London diarist John Evelyn in May 1656.32


However, there are five other quite different portraits of Archibald Campbell. Three or four relate to his time as Lord Lorne prior to 1638, and one or two relate to that as 8th Earl of Argyll. All these portraits have their subject bareheaded, with eyes looking beyond rather than directly at the viewer. The earliest reputed portrait has rather tenuously been attributed to Scougall’s celebrated predecessor from Aberdeen, George Jamesone.33 But the attribution of this bust portrait and its inscription as the ‘Marquis of Argyll’ were added by an art gallery prior to the First World War to enhance its sale rather than establish its provenance. The painting is rather anachronistic (see Plate 9). It is dated to 1627, yet Archibald Campbell did not become Marquess for another fourteen years. The sitter is stated to be twenty-nine, which would have placed Lorne’s birth in 1598, probably nine years too early. The sitter also seems to have prematurely aged. He has a moustache that is almost handle-bar, and a full goatee beard which falls below his chin. The nose is not distinctively Campbell. There is no hint of a curled lip, and a squint, if any, is in his right eye. Although the portrait appears to mark Lorne’s first visit to the court of Charles I, his dress style is distinctively Jacobean, a period which ended two years before the portrait is stated to have been painted. The portrait, which seems more reliant on customised stereotypes rather than original creations, has also be linked with ‘Adam de Colone’, a jobbing painter at the court of James VI and I just after the regal union.


Adam of Cologne is not to be confused with another German painter, Schunemann, who worked for a considerable period in Scotland and has been identified as painting one of two, almost identical, portraits of Lorne.34 These are the only full-length portraits of Archibald Campbell and the only paintings that have the subject facing left. Schunemann’s painting (see Plate 8), which conforms to the Court portraiture of Charles I, identifies the subject as Lord Lorne and is dated to 1630. Lorne holds a broad hat in his left hand and a sword of office in his right. This sword must relate to his admission to the Scottish Privy Council in June 1628, after he reached his majority. Although the sword has also been identified with his post as master of the royal household in Scotland, Lorne did not attain this post in his own right until February 1633.35 The full-length figure reveals a well proportioned if rather slight man of around medium height: 5 ft 5 in to 5 ft 7 in (1.65–1.70 cm) who, unlike the diminutive Charles I, did not require built-up shoes to enhance his stature. Lorne has a similar, if more restrained moustache and a narrower goatee beard than in the 1627 portrait, but a slight trace of a squint has been restored to the left eye. The almost identical picture, which differs in dress only in the angle of the sword and minor collar details, has Lorne looking slightly younger and more assured. However, this portrait is also inscribed anachronistically as ‘the Marquis of Argyll’, which suggests that its provenance was not 1628, the year of his sword-wielding majority, but actually later than 1630, and may even commemorate his appointment as master of the household. It seems to represent a subsequent touching-up to flatter a subject who was becoming a more assured councillor and occasional courtier.


Jamesone, who painted Margaret Douglas, the future Marchioness of Argyll, in a gentle and pensive mood around 1634,36 has again been linked, convincingly but not conclusively, with another bust portrait in more martial array. This portrait was actually painted on wood panelling found in the House of Argyll’s Lowland stronghold of Castle Campbell in Clackmannanshire (see Plate 7). There may be echoes of the portraiture of the Thirty Years War, or even that of the civil wars for the three kingdoms in the 1640s. But this ceremonial composition was probably occasioned by the royal visit of Charles I to Scotland for his coronation in 1633, when Lord Lorne featured as a leading Scottish magnate, rather than by the Bishops’ Wars of 1639–40, when the 8th Earl of Argyll was as prominent a Covenanter in the field as in political circles. The image conveyed is not so much a man of action as a rather melancholic stoic. The Campbell nose is slightly underplayed. There is a well trimmed moustache but no beard, and it is difficult to tell whether there is a squint in the right or the left eye. There is no hint of a twisted mouth. Jamesone can, however, be more assuredly identified with the most strikingly sympathetic portrait of Archibald Campbell as a man of power and purpose, dressed reservedly as a leading Covenanter rather than flamboyantly as a courtier (see Plate 6). Accordingly, the sitting would seem to date not before but after the emergence of the Covenanting Movement, when the 8th Earl established himself as the foremost radical by the outbreak of the Bishops’ Wars in 1639.37
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